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C] Original Site

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL, (if known) PHYSICAL. APPEARANCE

The United States Custom Mouse in Charleston, South Carolina, fronts East 
Bay Strejet on the west, and Concord Street and the Charleston Harbor on the 
east. (JEt is located within the area of the Charleston Historic District,\ 
although the buildings immediately surrounding the structure are not dis­ 
tinguished. The Custom House property, which includes parking areas and 
lawn, is defined by an iron fence.

A concise description of how the monumental Custom House was to appear orig­ 
inally was printed in The Charleston Courier in 18$U: "The style selected i* 
Roman Corinthian, which gives an elevation of the two upper stories decorate* 
with attached columns and porticos, supported on a .rusticated basement story 
and surmounted by a dome, the highest point of which will be 16*0 feet from 
the pavement. The general plan is a JJTOSS, the longest arm from East to 
West being 2^9 feet, while the shorter arm, extending Horth and South will' 
measure 15»2 feet, 11 Excepting the reference to the dome which was never buili 
this early description could be used to relate the present-day appearance 
of the building.

Begun in 18^3* the Custom Mouse was not completed until 18?9« The Roman
rn 
m

order was carried throughout the structure, not only in the 
pedimented porticos on the east and west fronts, but also the columns decora- 
ing the piers between the windows. The plan is a simple cross with one shor 
and one long axis. Originally there was to have been a rotunda with a dome 
and skylight at the intersection of the cross arm, but apparently this was 
eliminated as construction of the building was prolonged and became costlier 
The basement story is rusticated while the upper wall surfaces are smooth 
marble. Windows on both floors are rectangular and pedimented, as are the 
'Centrally located entrances on each portico. Surmounting the building is an 
entablature with a molded architrave, a wide unadorned frieze, excepting the 
"UfflTED STATES CUSTOM MOUSE" carved into the west front in 196U, and a den- 
tiled cornice. Above this is an open balustrade, behind which a low pitched 
roof is barely visible.

A grand sweep of stairs leads to both portico entrances. The first terrace 
level of the west side entrance is paved in diamond-patterned black and whit 
marble.

The interior of the building^payolxes_around the two-story cortille, called 
the "Business Room" in early records. Originally to have been a rotunda witi 
a skylighted dome, the cortille is square with a coved ceiling in which eigh' 
artificially lit skylights have been placed. Fourteen free-standing Corin­ 
thian columns support the second floor gallery, all of which is made of iron 
ELuted pilasters^with Corinthian capitals decorate the walls of the gallery. 
The ceiling is painted gold, red, white, and blue: rectangular shapes in th 
coved section depict the American flag and other patriotic symbols; the fla 
area of the ceiling is divided into squares which are stenciled with classi­ 
cal motifs, (continued)
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Ho, 7 Description (continued)

The main entrance to the Custom Mouse is on the west side through an 
entrance foyer. Opening onto the foyer on the south is an office, while 
on the north is the cast iron staircase leading to the second floor, 
Most offices open onto the cortille except those located in the entrance 
areas. Marble door and window framing is used throughout the building. 
Mall and cortille floors are diamond-patterned black and white marble. 
In the west front of the second story is a narrow, winding, but highly 
decorative cast iron staircase leading to the attic. Original carved 
marble fireplaces are still visible in some offices. A few of the 
original gas chandeliers have been electrified and hung in the halls. 
Renovation has taken a minimum toll on the appearance of the Custom

5e. both the interior and the exterior.
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PERIOD (Check One or More as Appropriate)

Q Pre-Columbian Q 16th Century Q 18th Century Q 20th Century 
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SPECIFIC DATE(S) (If Applicable and Known) iQC)3—1 879
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Aboriginal [^Education Q Political [~~| Urban Planning

r~l Prehistoric QJJ Engineering Q) Religion/Phi- [~] Other (Specify)

Q Historic Q Industry losophy _____________

[^Agriculture Q Invention Q) Science _____________
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I I Communications [~] Military Q Theater _____________
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Both architecturally and historically, the United States Custom Mouse in 
Charleston, South Carolina, is an outstanding public building, even in a 
city which has one of the most complete historic districts in the country, 
and one which contains a multitude of architecturally significant structures 
Its existence, which was threatened in the early 196Q f s, and its continual 
use as a custom house, completes the commercial history of one of the 
country's busiest early ports*

Prior to construction of the Custom louse, port business was transacted 
in the Exchange, authorized by Britain 1 ^ Common House of Assembly in 176? 
and completed in 1771* By the early decades of the nineteenth century, 
it itfas obvious that larger facilities were needed. Congress approved pur­ 
chase of a site in 18U7, and two years later, paid $130,000 for the area 
fronting west on East Bay with 277 feet and extending east to the Cooper 
River, including the waterfront section then known as Fitzsimons Wharf 

Competition designs for the Custom louse were due February 1, l8f?Q» Al­ 
though Charleston architect Edward C. Jones was declared winner, the choice 
was over-ruled in Washington, Indications are that Ammi Burnham Young 
apparently coordinated various competition drawings into one design: 
Jones protested to the Secretary of the Treasury that the portico and 
dome were taken from his design^ and the floor plan was taken from a 
drawing by John S. Horris.

Construction began in l85>3f with Charleston architect E. B. White serving 
as superintending architect. White was also a commissioner of the Custom 
Mouse. When digging the foundation, it was discovered that the site had 
been the location'of Craven's Bastion or Port in the colonial period. In 
order to support the weight of the Custom Mouse, an elaborate grillage had 
to be built, and was considered a major engineering achievement*

The dome was started but left unfinished when work was suspended with the 
beginning of the Civil War. The partially ̂ constructed building was damaged, 
so much so that Congress appropriated money in 1866 and 1867 to keep it 
from further deterioration. A. B. Mullett had made an inspection of the 
structure in 1867 at which time he reported to Congress that it was a 
"magnificent marble structure," but complained of the shoddy work being 
done to complete it. He requested an appropriation of a small sum in 
order to complete the exterior,

continued



A History of Public Buildings under the Control of the Treasury Department,
Washington: Government Printing Office, 1901, pp, 532-533« 

"History of the United States Custom House, Charleston, S.C." Mimeographed 
sheet made available to public at Custom House. 

Ravenel, Beatrice St. Julien. Architects of Charleston, Charleston: Carolir
Art Association, 1°ii5, pp. 19&, 206, 235-236, 

Records of the National Archives, Atlanta Regional Branch of the Hational Ar­ 
chives^ Federal Records Center. Record Group RG121, Accession Number 372851 
"History and Renovation: United States Custom louse, Charleston, 30uth 
Carolina," prepared by the Public Building Service; and Accession number 3$
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N W 0,,, o,,i

NE ° 
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OF LESS THAN TEN ACRES

LATITUDE LONGITUDE

Degrees Minutes Seconds Degrees Minutes Seconds

32° k6 ' 50 " 79 ° & ' .. 36 "
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In compliance with Executive Order 11593? 1 hereby 
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No. 8 Significance (continued)

Construction resumed in 1870, at which time alterations were 
made to the original plans. One change was the source of materials. 
During the war, the quarry at Hastings, New York, from which the 
stone had been procured, was abandoned and filled in, but similar 
marble was located at a quarry in Tuckahoe, New Jersey. In June, 
1870, Mullett submitted a plan for completion of the building 
contemplating the omission of the dome and the side porticos and 
modification of the east and west porticos. There actions resulted 
in a reduction of cost. By summer, 1879, the Custom House was 
occupied and completed at a cost of $2,806,915.43.

Few changes were made to the building. In 1906, a modern heating 
system replaced the use of stoves and open coal grates, and in 1910, 
plumbing, conduit, and lighting systems were installed. With the 
advent of a city water supply, the seven cisterns built within the 
structure were abandoned.

Although in good condition in the early 1960's, the Custom House, 
which was being used by numerous federal agencies, was threatened 
with demolition when a new federal building was opened. Local 
preservationists and United States Custom officials as well as 
United States Representative L. Mendel Rivers, joined forces to 
save the building. In 1968, over $212,000.00 was spent to restore 
the Custom House which now serves as permanent headquarters for the 
customs service. The building has been designated an Historic Custom 
House.
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Ho. 9 Bibliographical Sources (continued)

The Mews and Courier, Charleston, December 8, 1968, "Custom louse 
Symbol Preserved," by W.H.J. Thomas.
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